# The Relationship between Employee Development and Line Manager Support/Interaction with Employee Engagement. An investigation into employees in the Retail Sector in Ireland.

Ciara Connaughton

Master of Arts in Human Resource Management

National College of Ireland

Submitted to the National College of Ireland August 2019

## Declaration

| Submission of Thesis and Dissertation |                                 |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| National College of Ireland           |                                 |
| Research Students Declaration Form    |                                 |
| (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)      |                                 |
| Name:                                 | Ciara Connaughton               |
| Student Number:                       | 17167451                        |
| Degree for which thesis is submitted: | MA in Human Resource Management |

#### Material submitted for award

(a) I declare that the work has been composed by myself.

(b) I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been

distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information

specifically acknowledged.

(c) My thesis will be included in electronic format in the College

Institutional Repository TRAP (thesis reports and projects).

(d) Either \*I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used

in any other submission for an academic award.

Or\* I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part

of a submission for the award of

(State the award and the awarding body and list the material below)

Signature of research student:

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

## Submission of thesis to Norma Smurfit Library

#### National College of Ireland Student

Name: Ciara Connaughton

Student Number: 17167451

School: Business

**Degree:** MA in HRM

Degree to be awarded: MA in Human Resource Management

**Title of thesis:** The relationship between employee development and line manager support/interaction with employee engagement. An investigation into employees in the retail sector in Ireland.

One hard bound copy of your thesis will be lodged in the Norma Smurfit Library and will be available for consultation. The electronic copy will be accessible in TRAP (http://trap.ncirl.ie/), the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository. In accordance with normal academic library practice all theses lodged in the National College of Ireland Institutional Repository (TRAP) are made available on open access.

I agree to a hard-bound copy of my thesis being available for consultation n the library. I also agree to an electronic copy of my thesis being made publicly available on the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository (TRAP).

Signature of Candidate:

For completion by the College:

The aforementioned thesis was received by \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_

This signed form must be appended to all hard-bound copies of your thesis submitted to your college.

#### Acknowledgements

This summer has been one of the most stressful times for me as I balanced writing a thesis and began my career in HR working full time. Without the support of these people mentioned below I would not succeed in completing this dissertation.

To my supervisor Pauline Kelly-Phelan, thank you very much for the wonderful advice and patience you have shown to me along this journey.

To my great friend Kayla Gingles who had to constantly listen to melt downs on a daily basis. You gave me the encouragement I needed to continue when I did not think I could.

To my parents Bill and Carmel, thank you for everything you have done for me, without you I would not be in the position I am in now. Thank you for always being so supportive of me and providing me with the opportunity to complete a Masters.

## **Table of Contents**

|    | Declaration  | 2  |
|----|--|----|
|    | Acknowledgements                                       | 4  |
|    | Table of Contents                                      | 5  |
|    | List of Tables   | 8  |
|    | List of Figures  | 9  |
|    | Appendices   | 10 |
|    | Abstract   | 11 |
| 1. | Introduction   |    |
|    | Title  | 12 |
|    | Rationale  | 12 |
|    | The Justification of the Research                      | 16 |
| 2. | Aims & Objections                                      |    |
|    | Research Aim   | 15 |
|    | Research Objective                                     | 16 |
|    | Significance of the Study                              | 16 |
| 3. | Literature Review                                      |    |
|    | Employee Development                                   | 17 |
|    | Employee Development in the Retail Industry            | 18 |
|    | Line Manager - Employee Relationship                   | 20 |
|    | The Social Exchange Theory                             | 21 |
|    | Line Manager Impact on Commitment and Job Satisfaction | 21 |
|    | Employee Engagement                                    | 22 |
|    | Employee Development and Engagement                    | 23 |
|    | Line Manager Support and Employee Engagement           | 24 |
|    | Employee Retention                                     | 26 |
|    | Organisational Socialisation                           |    |

|    | Employee Retention and Employee Development | 29 |
|----|---|----|
|    | Conclusion                                  |    |
| 4. | Methodology                                 |    |
|    | Introduction                                |    |
|    | Research Philosophy                         |    |
|    | Research Framework                          |    |
|    | Research Approach                           | 31 |
|    | Research Design                             |    |
|    | Research Design Feasibility                 |    |
|    | Research Strategy                           |    |
|    | Research Procedure                          |    |
|    | Research Demographics                       |    |
|    | Sampling                                    | 34 |
|    | Ethical Considerations                      |    |
|    | Time Horizon                                | 35 |
|    | Research Limitations                        |    |
| 5. | Research Findings                           |    |
|    | Introduction                                |    |
|    | Demographics                                |    |
|    | Descriptive Statistics                      |    |
|    | Hypothesis 1                                | 40 |
|    | Hypothesis 2                                | 43 |
|    | Conclusion                                  | 46 |
| 6. | Discussion                                  |    |
|    | Introduction                                | 47 |
|    | Hypothesis 1                                | 47 |
|    | Hypothesis 2                                | 48 |

|     | Conclusion                                  | 50 |
|-----|---|----|
|     | Recommendations                             | 52 |
|     | Future Research                             | 55 |
| 7.  | Conclusion                                  | 56 |
| 8.  | References                                  | 57 |
| 9.  | Reflection (CIPD Requirement)               | 65 |
| 10. | Appendices                                  |    |
|     | Appendix 1: Survey Consent/Information Form |    |
|     | Appendix 2: Participation Consent           | 68 |
|     | Appendix 3: Permission to use Survey        | 69 |
|     | Appendix 4: Survey Contents                 | 69 |
|     | Appendix 5: Demographics                    | 73 |

## List of Tables

- Table 1: Descriptive Statistics
- Table 2: Cronbach's Alpha Results
- Table 3: Test of Normality for Rewards and Recognition
- Table 4: Bivariate Pearson Correlation
- Table 5: Scatter Plot of Rewards and Recognition ad Job Engagement
- Table 6: Spearman Rank Order Correlation
- Table 7: Age
- Table 8: Gender
- Table 9: Length in Retail
- Table 10: Length in Company

Table 11: Contract

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1: Theoretical Framework

- Figure 2: A model of the antecedents and consequences of employee engagement
- Figure 3: Date distribution for Rewards and Recognition
- Figure 4: Scatter Plot of Rewards and Recognition and Job Engagement
- Figure 5: Data distribution for Perceived Supervisor Support and Job Engagement
- Figure 6: Scatter plot of Perceived Supervisor Support and Job Engagement

## Appendices

Appendix 1: Survey Consent/Information Form

- Appendix 2: Participation Consent
- Appendix 3: Permission to use Survey
- Appendix 4: Survey Contents
- Appendix 5: Demographics

#### Abstract

Employee engagement has become a large concern for employers. If employees are engaged there is less chance of problems arising within the workplace, it can increase organisational commitment, job satisfaction and retention. This study determines that development opportunities and line manager support/interaction has a positive impact on employee engagement in the Irish retail sector.

Quantitative research was undertaken for this study, a survey was distributed among employees in the retail industry. Three stores under the same retailer were chosen to take part in the study. 108 employees worked as associates in these stores and were invited to take part in the survey, the researcher received 83 complete responses. The survey that was used in this research was developed by Professor Alan Saks (2006) which was discovered through a previous dissertation that was submitted to the National College of Ireland (NCI). The data gathered from the survey was inputted into The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) where tests relevant to the hypothesis were ran.

The results gathered show both development opportunities and line manager support/interaction has a positive impact on employee engagement levels.

Key words: development, line manager support/interaction, engagement, retention, organisational commitment and job satisfaction.

#### 1. Introduction

#### Title

The title of this research is: The relationship between employee development and line manager support/interaction with employee engagement. An investigation into employees in the retail sector in Ireland.

#### Rationale

The rationale of this research is to identify whether employee development and line manager support have an effect on engagement levels from employees currently working in the retail sector in Ireland. Current literature that exists suggests that employee development and line manager support has an impact on employee engagement, this is highlighted in the literature review. However, a very small amount of research exists on the Irish retail sector.

Development has become such an important benefit for employees and it can have a very positive impact on the workforce if implemented, but if not it can have detrimental consequences for organisations (Baruch, 2006). Additionally, line manager support can also have an impact on engagement levels. When line manager support fails and development opportunities are not an option, it can lead to a breakdown in relationship between the employee and their organisation. If employees are dissatisfied in their jobs it can lead to numerous problems for an organisation such as, unproductive employees, lack of engagement and ultimately high employee turnover levels (Zimenoff, 2015). Therefore, it is important to explore if development and line manager support contribute to job satisfaction, organisational commitment and engagement levels.

#### The Justification for the Research

The retail sector plays a very important factor within every economy worldwide as consumers buy products and services daily. The retail industry in Ireland accounts for 14% of the overall total employment, making it the largest private sector company (Ibec, 2019). Employees working in the retail industry enjoy the fourth highest wage earnings in Europe, yet the retail sector accounts for one of the highest turnover rates (Ibec, 2019). As the turnover rate has remained incredibly high within the retail sector, the issue of how to engage and retain employees has become important to organisations. One way this issue can potentially be resolved is through offering employee development.

Employee development refers to the growth of an individual within a working environment (London, 1989). Employees are now in search more than ever for purpose and meaning in their jobs. According to Hall and Mirvis (1996) job satisfaction and engagement can be improved through both learning and development opportunities and manager support. Previous research has concluded where development opportunities are available to employees it can enhance organisational commitment, job satisfaction, engagement and retention levels (Gutteridge, Leibowitz and Shore, 1993). Not only are employees seeking development opportunities in the form of learning programmes provided by their organisations, but are looking for their line managers to aid in this development. Line managers typically work alongside employees on a daily basis, therefore they can have the ability to develop employees. According to Schneier, MacCoy and Burchman (1988) employers who devote their time doing this for workers within their organisation have the ability of increasing organisational commitment, job satisfaction, engagement and retention, the same as employee development programmes.

The author has developed a theoretical framework shown in Figure 1 below. In this theoretical framework the author outlines their approach in seeking to find if line manager

support/interaction has a positive or negative effect on the four variables highlighted and likewise with formal/informal employee development. The theoretical framework below will be discussed in the literature review section.



Figure 1: Theoretical Framework

A survey developed by Professor Alan Saks (2006) titled "Antecedents and Consequences of *Employee Engagement*" will be used for the purpose of this study. The researcher received permission from Professor Saks to use his employee engagement scale. The email confirming the permission can be found in Appendix 3, while the contents of the survey can be found in Appendix 4.



Figure 2: A model of the antecedents and consequences of employee engagement (Saks, 2006)

Employee engagement according to Saks (2006) can be measured in two different forms; job engagement and organisational engagement. Job engagement is the interaction the employee has with their role within an organisation, whereas organisational engagement is the relationship an employee has with their company (Saks, 2006). This survey will be suited to investigating employees who work in the retail sector in Ireland as the researcher can gather data from thirteen different scales in relation to the research topic.

#### 2. Aims and Objectives

#### **Research Aim**

This researcher aims to examine individuals who are currently working in the clothing retail sector in Ireland. The researcher chose not to examine employees of different retail stores but to choose one large Irish retailer company, and survey three stores. Therefore, obtaining a more accurate result as the researcher will confidently know the participants who partake in their study will be working in the retail industry. The company that was chosen as the researcher's subject to survey was chosen as 90% of their employees are on associate contracts.

The reason sales associates were the target of this study is due to the fact sales associates are the face of the organisation. A large part of their role is to interact with customers on a daily basis, demonstrating a positive and motivated attitude towards the customer in order to encourage the consumer to return and buy the company's products. Also, in order to deliver excellent customer service employees must be fully engaged in their roles as being a sales associate can be a challenging job. Employees desire the same respect and dedication from their organisation as they input on a daily basis.

As the current literature that exists at this time suggests both development and line manager support has a positive impact on engagement levels. The researcher wanted to uncover if this would remain the same for employees in the Irish retail sector. Therefore, the two hypotheses outlined below were developed as the researcher had to predict their studies outcome. These hypotheses will be validated further in the findings section:

Ho: Employee progression will have a significant impact on employee engagement.

Ha: There will be a significant relationship between perceived line manager support/interaction and employee engagement.

#### **Research Objective**

The objective of this research is to explore whether employee development and line manager support affects employee engagement.

The researcher is further going to explore the effect employee development and line manager support/interaction has on employee's commitment, intention to stay within an organisation and job satisfaction

16

#### The Significance of the Study

In conducting this research, the author aims to discover if development opportunities and line manager support enhance employee engagement in an organisation. This research is of importance to organisations operating within the retail industry as the results may show the impact development opportunities can have on an organisation. This study targets sales associates only as the investigation is concerned with employee developmental opportunities and line manager support, in which management are exempt from. The results will hopefully identify a clear conclusion to the research objectives the author has highlighted above.

#### 3. Literature Review

The purpose of the literature review is to explore existing research and studies that consider employee development and line manager support as contributions of enhanced levels of employee engagement (and the intention to stay with an organisation).

#### **Employee Development**

The term employee development can be defined as an opportunity for an employee to develop his/her skills and knowledge in training programmes which are supported by the employer to ensure the employee has the competencies required to perform well (Jacobs and Washington, 2003). Over recent decades the term "employee development" has gained significant importance worldwide, the reason for this is due to global competition among organisations. Offering development opportunities has become an important benefit to entice employees to remain in their roles (Wait and Frazer, 2018). This theory of offering development opportunities to retain employees has been proven to be true by many authors as published literature suggests employee development opportunities has a positive impact on employees in organisations (Maurer, 2001; Weng et al. 2010 and Whitner, 2001). Benefits associated with employee development according to Lau and Ngo (2004) include creating an innovative

workforce as development investments can enable employees to continuously learn about the organisation. Sung and Choi (2013) also stated its positive impact on employees as their skills and knowledge bases are improved, therefore creating a competitive workforce.

A large percentage of organisations assume the most important aspect of an employee's job is their salary and financial benefits alone. Previous research suggests this is not a true statement to make, Jehanzeb and Bashir (2013) found that employees invested in their jobs looked for training and development programmes in which they reported leads to higher levels of job satisfaction and commitment. As claimed by Garger (1999) employee's possess no loyalty to organisations who do not invest in them. According to Wagner (2000) development programmes can lead to great benefits for organisations, such as job satisfaction, organisational commitment and high retention levels. Torraco and Swanson (1995) agree with this stating that a positive relationship exists between employee development and organisational commitment. Research has been provided in relation to this. A study by Harrold (2000) showed when employee development investments of \$2 billion were made in the company Honeywell, productivity increased by 4.7 percent, thereby rising commitment levels. A similar study conducted by Shelton (2001) in relation to employee development and job satisfaction seen a positive correlation between the two variables, but also discovered if there is no support from management in these development programmes then it will leave employees feeling unengaged. Employees thrive from the feeling of adding value to a company as it gives them a purpose (Melymuka, 2000). The company Management Recruiter of Boston reported one of the main reasons employees leave their jobs is due to the lack of development opportunities (Rosenwald, 2000).

#### **Employee Development in the Retail Industry**

Ibec (2019) states the number of people employed in the retailing Industry in Ireland accounts for 14% of the population, making the retail industry the largest private sector company, and most profitable as it generates an annual estimate of €30 billion in capital. However, it also has the largest turnover rates (Ibec, 2019). Previous studies have emphasised these high turnover rates can be accounted to the lack of developmental opportunities available to employees. An investigation conducted by Nair et al. (2014) saw a similar situation in the Malaysian retail industry as to what Ireland experiences. The study found that similar to Ireland the retail industry dominates as one of the highest profitable sectors generating 60-70% Gross Domestic Product (GDP), yet employee turnover has remained a predominant problem with an annual turnover of 18%. The results of this study found that the main reason employees were leaving their positions was due to the lack of development opportunities (Nair et al. 2014). A similar situation was also recorded in the UK, survey conducted by Jashan (2016) found that 18% of employees surveyed had left previous retail roles as there was no opportunity for development. Employees respond in a more positive light to organisations that are investing in employee development, employees describe a feeling of being valued (Glazer et al. 2019). In accordance with this Twenge (2010) stated organisations can gain a greater competitive advantage through employees increasing their performance and productivity once employee development is invested in. Giant retailer Wal-Mart is a prime example of a company who successfully improved its ability to retain employees by changing their policy towards employee development. Peterson (2005) reported the retailer diminished their turnover by 65% all due to their decision to introduce development programmes which allows sales associates to advance to management positions within the company. Over 70% of those who hold management positions within Wal-mart today began their careers as sales associates (Peterson, 2005). Employees who are not seeing these development opportunities within their roles are beginning to leave their positions as the younger generation are in search of jobs that provide a purpose (Jacobs et al. 2014). A study conducted by Reda (2008) on retail employees in the United States found that in the U.S alone the turnover rate accumulated to 60% for full-time employees and 115% for part-time workers in the year 2008. From this it was evident that organisational commitment and job satisfaction was at and all time low, and it is still continuing today. In the retail industry it is very important to have committed and satisfied employees as those are the ones who are representing the company brand and are the point of contact to customers.

#### Line Manager - Employee Relationship

A line manager has a very important role to play in both managing employees and reporting to upper management. The definition of a line manager comes from Currie and Procter (2001) who defined a line manager as a mediator, negotiator and the person who connects the organisation. These managers play a crucial role in motivating, engaging and retaining employees (Rathi and Lee, 217). The decision making process over the years has slowly changed now allowing line managers have more say in decision making, there has been a shift in power (Stoker, 2006). Line managers work alongside employees on a daily basis interacting and providing support. Arakawa and Greenberg (2007) identified that a line manager has a predominant amount of influence on their employees. In today's society the well-being of people not only in social life but working life has become so important. Therefore, looking after an employees well-being has become an essential part of a line manager's role within an organisation as studies have shown it links to job satisfaction and job engagement (Judge et al., 2001). According to Spector (1997) the more satisfied an employee is within their role the more committed and engaged they become.

Previous research from authors have shown that line manager support can have a positive impact on the employee, in terms of organisational commitment, job satisfaction, engagement and retention. Authors Harter, Schmidt and Hayes (2008) stated that employees who feel supported within their organisations possess a higher level of organisational commitment than those who are not provided with support. Organisational support is the key to organisational commitment (Colakoglu, Culha and Atay, 2010). When discussing the relationship between line managers and employees in relation to organisational commitment, the social exchange theory can be applied.

#### The Social Exchange Theory

The social exchange theory can be applied to any workplace. The social exchange theory essentially outlines when a person is treated in a fair and well received manner the person receiving that treatment is more likely to reciprocate that behaviour back to the other person (Blau, 1976). In more detail, the social exchange theory concludes that employee behaviour and overall workplace behaviour is due to the result of an exchange process that seeks to maximise benefits and minimise costs in a relationship (Emerson, 1981). When the negatives outweigh the positives then it can have a detrimental effect on the relationship between the employee and employer relationship. However, in contrast, if the positives outweigh the negatives the opposite applies. Holladay and Carroll (2010) stated organisational commitment can be increased as a result of the social exchange theory as employees have the ability to outweigh the positives over the negatives. This theory can be applied in any working environment no matter how large scale the organisation may be, according to Mearns et al. (2010) employees respond to their employer's behaviour towards them. The more investment employees see on their employers behalves, the more likely that investment will be reciprocated. This theory can be applied to the retail industry which can help towards the disengagement of employees. Thus, a line manager using this approach and investing time in the employee can contribute to organisational commitment.

#### Line Managers Impact on Employee Commitment and Job Satisfaction

Many aspects can have an influence on employee job satisfaction, such as pay, working environment, co-workers, but also line manager support (Malik, 2013). Research has shown that a positive line manager - employee relationship has resulted in increased commitment from employees, a higher feeling of satisfaction within their roles, performance has increased, while workplace conflicts have been brought down to a minimum (Newman et al. 2011; Sawang, 2010; Argarwala et al. 2014). Previous research that has been conducted on organisational commitment and employee job satisfaction has failed to identify exactly how supervisor support is linked to the two variables. However, a study undertaken by Rathi and Lee (2017) identified these gaps using Quality of Working Life as a mediating variable. Quality of Working Life is a relatively new concept in which organisations are becoming aware of. Instead of focusing on the level of work the employee is doing, attention is now being directed to the wellbeing of the employee. The results of their study showed line manager support has a positive and significant impact on Quality of Working Life which then leads to organisational commitment and job satisfaction (Rathi and Lee, 2017). Employees enjoy the feeling of support from line managers as it shows the level of commitment management have for them (Rhoades and Eisenberger, 2002). However, line-managers can contribute and cause dissatisfaction to their employees from the amount of work and pressure that they put on them. A study operated by Eurofound (2015) reported of those participants surveyed 62% had to constantly chase targets and deadlines, as a result it had left employees overwhelmed and dissatisfied with their job. Therefore, organisational commitment and job satisfaction of an employee in a lot of circumstances rests on how line managers treat their employees.

22

#### **Employee engagement**

According to Macey and Schneider (2008) defining employee engagement has become ambiguous as many literatures hold different definitions of the term, leading it to be inconsistent at times. A variety of different ways the term employee engagement can be interpreted by authors are highlighted below. Studies conducted by authors Christian, Garza and Slaughter, (2011) and Rich, Lepine and Crawford, (2010) suggest employee engagement and organisational commitment come hand in hand. Robinson, Perryman and Hayday (2004) determined employee engagement occurs when employees feel satisfied and contented with the organisation in which they work for. Whereas Attridge (2009) defines employee engagement as an employee's enthusiasm to work. What remains is the lack of a universal definition of the term. However, the first use of the term can be located to William A. Khan (1990).

The theory of employee engagement was first developed by William A. Khan (1990) in which the title of theoretical father has been bestowed upon him. Khan conducted research by studying and analysing a working environment. In his research Kahn's main aim was to identify how engagement occurs within a workplace, but also what can contribute to the disengagement of employees (Khan, 1990). His research was one of the first to focus on "how employees felt" rather than if the employee themselves were the "right fit" for the organisation. According to Kahn, employee engagement involves the harnessing of oneself to one's work roles (Khan, 1990). The employee then can become "physically, cognitively and emotionally" engaged with their work (Khan, 1990, p694).

#### **Employee Development and Engagement**

In order to retain, satisfy and increase productivity within a workplace employee engagement must be instilled into an organisations strategy according to Iqbal et al. (2017). One of the largest surveys that has been conducted on employee engagement investigating what is important to employees and why was orchestrated by Towers Perrin. The results of this study established that employees felt learning and development had become very important for them (O'Neal et al. 2006). Although people react well to money, enjoying pay increases and bonuses, a new desire for employees is now intrinsic rewards such as employee development according to Jacobs et al. (2014). Employees crave job autonomy and this can be given through developmental opportunities, employees have no desire to work within an environment in which they will be micromanaged, but want to know how to perform within their role, through this a more engaged workforce can be created (Kaur, 2016).

In the area of retail, an employee being engaged within their role is crucial to the successful running of that store. Employees who are disengaged fail to offer excellent customer service which can then have a damaging effect on the store as more often they will not become a loyal consumer (Ellis and Sorensen, 2007). Evenson (2007) reported for an employee to deliver excellent customer service they themselves must be fully engaged. For this reason alone organisations have been made aware of the importance in boosting organisational performance, this is through training and developing employees (Markos and Sridevi, 2010). Baumruk and Gorman (2006) expressed the value organisational performance can have on an organisation. Employees who are satisfied and committed to their roles become great advocates for their organisation (Bamruk and Gorman, 2006). The Blessing White (2006) study discovered 60% of individuals who were surveyed agreed that development opportunities have an impact on their job satisfaction and engagement levels.

Employee development is not the only aspect which can have an effect on engagement levels within an organisation, according to some authors line manager support/interaction has the same amount of impact on employee engagement levels.

#### Line Manager Support and Employee Engagement

Employee engagement can be driven by a number of factors within the working environment, one of these factors that can claim an important input is the relationship between employees and their line managers. Inevitably so, the more engaged an employee is within their organisation and work, the less likely there will be reduced productivity, sick rates and rising conflicts to occur (MacLeod and Clarke, 2009). Korsgaard et al. (1995) highlighted the importance of a healthy relationship between a line manager and employee. As the mantra says employees leave managers, not companies. As line managers have more interaction with employees on a daily basis than any other managers this mantra can be applied to them. Support and interaction are one of the main things employees seek from their management team, if these fail to exist it can create a disengaged workforce. MacLeod (2008, p34) stated, *"Common sense would suggest that management, both immediate and senior, hold the levers that can engage or disengage a workforce."* According to Aktouf (1992) unsupportive line managers can result in disengagement for employees.

Managers have a choice to make within their position on how they manage their employees, they can take an authoritarian approach, or they have the opportunity to engage with and empower employees. In Khan's theory he discusses how three psychological conditions; psychological meaningfulness, psychological safety and psychological availability can have an impact on engagement and disengagement (Khan, 1990). Line managers who want to create or maintain an engaged workforce use these three areas to do so. First, they look to see how meaningful an employees work is to them, the more meaningful they feel towards their

25

role the more likely they are engaged with their jobs (May 2003). The second is safety, they must ensure their employees feel psychologically safe. An employee who feels psychologically safe is someone who is comfortable in being their full self without the risk of consequences (Macey and Schneider, 2008). Finally, the third of Khans psychological conditions is availability. Employees need to have confidence in themselves in order to do the work they undertake, the more confident the employee is within their role the more engaged they can become (Khan, 1990). These psychological conditions all play an important role in engaging employees, managers who support and involve their employees have the ability to increase engagement levels. By interpreting Khans psychological conditions this can be achieved.

Previous literature has shown employees seek these close relationships with their line manager. Chalofsky (2003) documented that employees desire a positive and well working relationship with their managers over any form of capital. Rai et al. (2017) also confirmed this statement, adding employees who work well with their manager show higher engagement levels than those employees who do not have this kind of relationship. As well as this employee want management to invest in organisational learning for them. The term organisational learning can be defined as *"the acquisition of information, the distribution and sharing of learning and continuous support"* (Bate and Khasawneh, 2005, p.99). Management have become aware of the importance of organisational learning as it benefits both parties involved, it creates more enthusiastic and engaged employees, as well as a competitive advantage for the organisation (Mehrabi et al. 2013). Research undertaken by Rose, Kumar, & Pak, (2011) and Salarian, Baharmpour, & Habibi, (2015) discovered when management offer organisational learning it can have an impact on employee engagement. Moreover, Wang (2007) found organisational learning has a strong correlation with job satisfaction and organisational commitment. From the literature found it has shown a positive correlation between line manager support and employee engagement.

#### **Employee Retention**

The term employee retention has no definitive definition; many authors have described it in different ways. Some examples of these definitions are as follows, Baharin and Hanafi (2018) defined employee retention as an organisations responsibility to take measures to ensure employees remain in the company for a long period of time. In accordance with this Iles at al. (2010) believes companies should make certain sacrifices for their employees which could improve the overall atmosphere within a working space. Whereas Aruna and Anitha (2015) defined employee retention as employees who have become talented within their specific job through training and development which results in employees becoming dedicated to their acquired roles. Over recent years there has been a major shift in the global economy due to the continuous rise in technology, resulting in competition among organisations becoming a significant challenge. The working organisations throughout the world is now facing a "war on talent" due to organisations inability to retain current employees (Cole, 2015). Organisations have now become more aware of the importance in investing in training and development programmes in order to retain staff (Coates, 2017). Along with this, managers within these organisations are seeing employees wanting to become more involved with the going-ons in the business and show interest in becoming more involved in decision making processes (Carmeli, 2005). By organisations and line managers investing in employees it has shown from the above literature that it can have an effect on engagement levels by creating satisfied and committed employees. Employees who are engaged with their work are less likely to leave their organisations. When an employee is satisfied and committed to their role there is a greater chance they will remain (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). This is something that has become a major challenge for employers in the retail sector as turnover is a continuous problem among retail employees (Daves, 2002). Lucas et al. (1990) and Shim et al. (2002) felt if organisations could stop focusing on the reason why employees were leaving organisations and focused more time on approving retention levels by increasing organisational commitment it would then lead to a higher chance of employees being engaged within their job and would eventually improve employee retention.

#### **Organisational socialisation**

Many researchers believe the employer and employee relationship has a significant impact on retention levels in an organisation. Whitcomb (2012) stated how it is crucial to attract, retain and most importantly engage with current employees as this will improve overall productivity rates creating a happier workforce. Walumbwa et al. (2005) identified that the support of a line manager to their employees has a positive impact on employee retention. This statement was also supported by Silbert (2005) who also noted line manager support has an impact on employee retention. In order to retain employees, it is important they are satisfied and committed to both their role and their organisation. Yet, organisational commitment sometimes fails to exist when there is a breakdown between employee and employer. The breakdown in these relationships can be solved through a process of organisational socialisation (Luca, 2016).

Tang et al. (2013) highlighted in his research the most effective way management can get employees to commit to the organisation is through organisational socialisation. The term is defined "*as a process by which newcomers acquire the attitudes, behaviours and knowledge needed to make the transition from being outsiders to becoming effective members of an organisation*" (Tang et al., 2013, p62). This is an approach that management can take which could solve many potential problems from arising. Simply by investing a large amount of time into developing new employees when they join the organisation will benefit the organisation in the long term. Employees see the effort the managers are making and they will return that interaction in the form of commitment, engagement and inevitably retention (Ashford and Black, 1996). This may be a solution that could help line managers reduce large turnover rates in the retail sector and increase their ability to retain employees.

#### **Employee Retention and Employee Development Opportunities**

The ability to retain employees has become a skill for organisations as loyalty has slowly become a thing of the past. Linked in's Workforce Learning Report that was issued in 2018 discovered out of those surveyed 93% of employees stated that they would be willing to stay within organisations that are investing in development programmes for them. Forbes reported in a recent article that development opportunities should be mandatory in organisations to assist in retaining employees (Biro, 2018). According to Paré and Trembley (2007) development is vital in influencing job satisfaction which will then have an affect on the decision an employee makes when deciding to leave an organisation or not. Many authors it seems hold similar agreements in relation to employee development having a positive impact of retention, authors such as Lee and Bruvold (2003) and Ahmad, Bibi and Majid (2017).

#### Conclusion

For any research topic it is important to understand the area you are researching and see what other authors are discovering in this area. The objective of this section was to review literature on employee development and line manager support/interaction and its effect on employee engagement. Additionally, organisational commitment, job satisfaction and retention were recurring terms that continually arose when researching the main research title. This chapter highlighted the importance of employee development opportunities and line manager support/interaction on employee engagement and retention. Job satisfaction and organisational commitment also play a key role in employee engagement. Engagement as discussed has become very important for both employee and organisation. Although there is a vast amount of research around the topic of employee engagement, authors find it difficult to agree on an exact definition of the term. What this literature did discover was development and line manager support/interaction can have a positive effect when it comes to employee engagement.

#### 4. Methodology

#### Introduction

In the previous section the literature identified that both employee development and line manager support have an effect on job engagement as well as organisational commitment, job satisfaction and retention.

This section of the paper outlines the different methods and approaches that will be used in this study. According to Scotland (2012, p9) a methodology section of a dissertation outlines the *"why, from where, when and how the data is collected and anaylsed"*. Therefore, the researcher will outline exactly that. Under the methodology section the following will be discussed; research philosophy, research framework, research approach, research design, research strategy, research procedure and research demographics. Furthermore, ethical considerations and research limitations will be outlined in this methodology section.

#### **Research Philosophy**

According to Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill (2009, p108) the term research philosophy refers to "*the development of knowledge and the nature of that knowledge*." The type of research philosophy an author conducting a study undertakes has a lot to do with what questions they want to be answered. The two types of research philosophy that exist is ontology and epistemology. For the purpose of this study the researcher will be focusing on epistemology, adopting a philosophy of positivism.

Epistemology is the study of knowledge in general. Within the philosophy of epistemology there are two approaches the researcher can take, positivism and interpretivism. The term positivism *"holds that there is one objective reality"* (Quinlan, 2011, p99). Positivists believe that society shapes an individual. Whereas interpretivists believe the reality is multiple and

relative (Hudson and Ozanne, 1988). The author chose povitism as their research philosophy as a survey was being used. Also, the researcher was not involved with the participants who took part in the study, according to Carson et al. (2001) this is important to remain neutral and not have an impact on the way participants answer.

#### **Research Framework**

The research framework that is being used in this study is referred to as "the research onion" which was a model designed by Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill (2009). The research onion outlines each layer that is needed in a methodology for it to be effective. For Saunders et al. (2009) an effective methodology includes research philosophy, research approach, research strategy, time horizon and finally, data and collection methods. The purpose of a research onion is to guide the author through their methodology.

#### **Research Approach**

Two approaches that can be used when attempting to conduct research are inductive and deductive reasoning, both approaches are opposite to one another. An inductive approach involves the process of observation to theory, known as a bottom-up approach (Horn, 2012). Whereas, deductive reasoning moves from general to specific, known as a top-down approach (Horn, 2012).

For the purpose of this study deductive reasoning was chosen as a survey is associated with deductive reasoning according to Quinlan (2011). In more detail deductive reasoning involves moving from general to specific. The process includes developing a hypothesis that predicts an outcome, experiments are then further conducted to reach a conclusion on the hypothesis, the hypothesis can either be supported or rejected (Saunders et al. 2009).

#### **Research Design**

When conducting research two different approaches can be adapted, qualitative and quantitative research. Qualitative research involves the collection of information from word of mouth as a collection of data, for example semi structured and structured interviews fall under the category of qualitative research. Quantitative research on the other hand analyses the gathering of numeric data in ways such as questionnaire or survey distribution (Quinlan, 2011). The data collection for this study was within three stores in a large private retailing company in Ireland. Both of these methods could be used in this particular research. However, for the purpose of this study the researcher decided to use a quantitative survey in order to collect their data. The main reason quantitative research was selected as it allowed the researcher to gather a large sample of data within a short period as it allows for quick responses from participants.

#### **Research Design Feasibility**

The researcher has a very good connection with the company used in this study as they were a member of staff for a number of years employed as a part time sales associate. The survey was distributed to three stores as the researcher had a good relationship with the managers of these stores, they had been managed by them at some point during their time of employment. The survey was distributed by management in their employees Facebook Messenger group.

#### **Research Strategy**

The researcher chose to use a survey to gather their data. The choice to use a survey was due to the researcher wanting to gather a large amount of data in a short amount of time as they were under a time restriction. The researcher was gathering a large amount of data in relation to employee engagement. A survey can ensure valid results as surveys are anonymous and participants will give their full and honest opinions to the statements made in the survey. A survey can ask a significantly large amount of questions without going into a large amount of detail so the participant can answer them at a fast pace. The survey was distributed to participants via SurveyMonkey.

#### **Research Procedure**

When the author was researching which survey they could use for their study they found a dissertation that was completed by Doreen Travers (2018) a student of the National College of Ireland (NCI) in which contained the contents of the survey created by Professor Alan Saks (2006). The researcher then sought permission from Professor Saks through email to use this survey in their study. The email showing this permission can be seen in Appendix 3. Secondly, the contents of this survey can be seen in Appendix 4. The survey was sent out through SurveyMonkey to the managers of retail stores, the managers of these stores then distributed the survey to their employees. The researcher only sent the survey to managers of retail stores as they were cautious of collecting valid and reliable results.

#### **Research Demographics**

For the purpose of this research Saks (2006) survey was used as it is an academic source which has been rigorously validated. The reason for choosing this survey over other academic surveys was due to the statements highlighted in Saks survey are consistent to the theme of the literature review. Participants who took part in this survey were asked to rate their answers to the questions on a Likert scale ranging from 1- strongly disagree, 2- disagree, 3- neither agree nor disagree, 4-agree and 5-strongly agree. Some of the questions were reverse coded for negatively worded statements, this can be seen in Appendix 4 which shows the contents of the

survey. Following the questions to Saks survey additional five demographic questions were included at the end of the survey.

Employee engagement can be measured through job engagement and organisational engagement. The measurement of job engagement consists of five statements in which the participants have to answer on a Likert scale. Job engagement can also be measured through job satisfaction, organisational commitment, intention to quit and organisational citizen behaviour - individual and organisation. Organisational engagement consists of six scales, job characteristics, perceived organisational support, perceived supervisor support, rewards and recognition, procedural justice and distributive justice.

#### Sampling

As stated previously, the author had a good relationship with three store managers that worked in this retailer. The researcher contacted the managers individually and explained to them what they wanted to do and ensured them the company's name would remain private and not be referred to by its name within their study. All three managers agreed to the researcher distributing the survey among the employees and then sent the managers the survey. These managers then shared the survey within a Facebook messenger group set up for each store. The sales associates in each store were invited to take part in the survey on a voluntary basis, those who did not want to participate in the research were not obliged to. In total one hundred and eight individuals are employed as sales associates within the three retail stores, therefore one hundred and eight was the sample size. This sample size included both male and females, with ages ranging from eighteen plus.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

When conducting research, it is essential the author adheres to ethical standards. Bowie and Schneider (2011, p10) defined ethics "*the code of moral standards*." Ethical approval was previously sought and accepted for this research through a dissertation proposal. A research consent form had been submitted to each individual partaking in the survey, clearly highlighting the option to partake or refrain from being involved with the study. Individuals were fully aware that the survey was confidential and it was clearly expressed on the information sheet of the survey that the identification of any of the participants would not be disclosed or recorded. Contact information of the researcher was also available on the information section in case any participants sought further knowledge on the details of the survey. The researcher has complied with the ethical guidelines set out by the National College of Ireland.

#### **Time Horizon**

Given the small amount of time that was allocated to conducting this research, a time limit had to be set in relation to distributing and collecting the data. The amount of time that was allocated for this was two weeks for participants to partake in the survey.

#### **Research Limitations**

Although the survey the author distributed is a published journal by Professor Alan Saks some limitations in this research exist. The researcher chose to undertake quantitative research over qualitative research. When conducting this study, the researcher could have chosen quantitative or qualitative to collect their data but chose quantitative as it allows for a faster and larger response rate in a small amount of time. However, due to this decision a limitation has arisen. The problem with using a quantitative method is the responses lack in depth personal answers
which could have helped the researcher understand the participants feelings and opinions on the topic more.

As the researcher had a time limit of two weeks to send and collect the data before running it on SPSS, conducting research of longitudinal data was not an option in this circumstance. If the researcher had this time, then a longitudinal study could have been undertaken which would of allowed for the observation of the same variables over a longer amount of time. Further, if the researcher had a longer period of time to collect data a larger sample size could have been gathered as other stores in the retailer could of been contacted to take part. The researcher collected a small sample size (83 responses) due to time constraints.

### 5. Results and Findings

### Introduction

In this chapter the researcher will explore the results obtained from the survey that was distributed among retail employees. This chapter will first analyse the demographic questions the researcher asked participants, the reliability and validity of each of the thirteen scales that were used in this study will be tested where the results will be represented in the form of Cronbach's Alpha. Finally, the results from the statistical tests ran will be represented below.

The aim of the statistical tests ran were to address the research objectives:

- Employee progression will have a significant impact on employee engagement.
- There will be a significant relationship between perceived line manager support/interaction and employee engagement.

### **Demographics**

This survey gathered 83 responses from participants in total, out of these responses there was 0 incomplete, the researcher achieved a 100% response rate. The researcher allocated two weeks to distribute and gather the data, after the two weeks were up the researcher closed the link to the survey and uploaded their data to SPSS.

In the first demographic question participants were asked to state their gender, the results showed females dominated these retail stores by over 30% 25(Male 30.1%) 58 Female (69.9%). It was confirmed by the management of these stores that the workforce was predominantly female. The second demographic question asked participants to choose a category which contained their age group 18-25 years (44.6%), 26-35 years (30.1%), 36-50 years (19.3%) and 50+ years (6.0%). This result showed a predominantly young workforce. The third asked employees to specify their length of time in retail, less than a year (21.7%), 1-

3 years (34.9%) and 4+ years (43.4%). The fourth question asked the participants the amount of time spent in the company, less than a year (48.2%), 1-3 years (31.3%) and 4+ years (20.5%). This shows how there is a large turnover rate within the retail sector. The final question asked employees their contract type, full time (55.4%), part time (37.3%) and flexible (7.2%).

# **Descriptive Statistics**

The table that can be seen below represents the thirteenth different scales that were used to identify if employee development has an effect on engagement levels.

|                                    |               | Mini<br>mu    | Maxi          | Меа           | Std.<br>Deviatio |               |                   |                |               |
|------------------------------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|------------------|---------------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|
|                                    | Ν             | m             | mum           | n             | n                | Skewness      |                   | Kurtosis       |               |
|                                    | Stati<br>stic | Stati<br>stic | Stati<br>stic | Stati<br>stic | Statistic        | Stati<br>stic | Std.<br>Erro<br>r | Stati<br>stic  | Std.<br>Error |
| JobEngagement                      | 83            | 5             | 18            | 11.3<br>1     | 3.602            | .466          | .264              | .794           | .523          |
| OrganisationEng<br>agement         | 82            | 4             | 23            | 12.1<br>5     | 4.486            | .171          | .266              | -<br>.775      | .526          |
| JobCharacteristic                  | 83            | 0             | 11            | 4.72          | 2.481            | -<br>.013     | .264              | -<br>.491      | .523          |
| RewardsRecogni<br>tion             | 83            | 3             | 39            | 22.0<br>1     | 6.776            | -<br>.219     | .264              | .295           | .523          |
| DistributiveJustic<br>e            | 83            | 1             | 14            | 8.72          | 3.497            | -<br>.387     | .264              | -<br>1.27<br>7 | .523          |
| ProceduralJustic<br>e              | 83            | 3             | 26            | 15.2<br>8     | 4.722            | -<br>.333     | .264              | -<br>.492      | .523          |
| PerceivedOrgani<br>sationalSupport | 83            | 7             | 28            | 17.2<br>5     | 5.094            | -<br>.460     | .264              | -<br>.721      | .523          |

### **Descriptive Statistics**

| PerceivedSupervi<br>sorSupport | 83 | 3 | 15 | 9.69      | 2.673 | -<br>.295 | .264 | -<br>.397 | .523 |
|--------------------------------|----|---|----|-----------|-------|-----------|------|-----------|------|
| JobSatisfaction                | 83 | 0 | 12 | 7.42      | 2.897 | -<br>.599 | .264 | -<br>.554 | .523 |
| OrganisationalCo<br>mmitment   | 83 | 1 | 20 | 11.0<br>6 | 3.650 | .106      | .264 | .146      | .523 |
| IntentToQuit                   | 83 | 1 | 9  | 5.67      | 1.289 | .180      | .264 | 1.63<br>1 | .523 |
| ОСВІ                           | 82 | 4 | 15 | 9.59      | 2.977 | -<br>.506 | .266 | -<br>.870 | .526 |
| осво                           | 82 | 0 | 12 | 6.40      | 2.643 | -<br>.211 | .266 | -<br>.905 | .526 |
| Valid N (listwise)             | 81 |   |    |           |       |           |      |           |      |

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics

# **Reliability and Validity**

Before any researcher can determine which tests to run it is essential that they find out the reliability and validity of their scales as this allows the researcher to understand how consistent the results of their study are. For this study the researcher used Cronbach's Alpha to determine the reliability of their scales. According to Cronbach's Alpha for the results to be reliable the coefficient would have to exceed .70. The results of Cronbach's Alpha is represented in the table below.

|   | Cronbach Alpha Results  | Values |
|---|-------------------------|--------|
| 1 | Job Engagement          | 0.819  |
| 2 | Organisation Engagement | 0.886  |
| 3 | Job Characteristics     | 0.677  |
| 4 | Rewards and Recognition | 0.878  |

| 5  | Distributive Justice                                  | 0.926  |
|----|---|--------|
| 6  | Procedural Justice                                    | 0.895  |
| 7  | Perceived Organisational Support                      | 0.787  |
| 8  | Perceived Supervisor Support                          | 0.833  |
| 9  | Job Satisfaction                                      | 0.880  |
| 10 | Organisational Commitment                             | 0.563  |
| 11 | Intent to Quit  | -1.610 |
| 12 | Organisational Citizenship Behaviour (Individual)     | 0.850  |
| 13 | Organisational Citizenship Behaviour (Organisational) | 0.762  |

Table 2: Cronbach's Alpha Results

The majority of the results show high reliability scales, however three of the scales failed to reach over .70 those were; Job Characteristics, Organisational Commitment and particularly Intent to Quit, this shows that these three scales are not reliable as they do not meet the required standard to be called a reliable scale. The researcher tried to resolve the issue with the scale Intent to Quit but continued to get this outcome.

## **Hypothesis 1**

The first hypothesis is: Employee progression will have a significant impact on employee engagement. In order to determine whether to use a parametric or non-parametric test, tests of normality were ran to see if the data was normally distributed. Due to a small sample size the Shapiro-Wilk test was used to access normality. A non-significant result which is a value of more than 5 shows normality. In this case the significant value of Rewards and Recognition was .933 which indicates a non-significant result as seen in table 3.

As the researcher wants to test the relationship between two variables the test that was most suited to this was Bivariate Pearson Correlation. The Pearson's Correlation will determine if a linear relationship exists.

#### **Tests of Normality**

|                    |          | Shapiro-Wilk |      |  |
|--------------------|----------|--------------|------|--|
|                    | Statisti |              |      |  |
|                    | С        | df           | Sig. |  |
| RewardsRecognition | .993     | 83           | .933 |  |

\*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Lilliefors Significance Correction

Table 3: Test of normality for Rewards and Recognition



Figure 3: Data distribution for rewards and recognition

The relationship between Rewards and Recognition and Job Engagement was analysed through using Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient. Prior to running this a test of normality was performed. There was a medium positive correlation between the two variables r = .446, n = 83, p < .000.

### Correlations

|                    |                        | RewardsRec | JobEngagem |
|--------------------|------------------------|------------|------------|
|                    |                        | ognition   | ent        |
| RewardsRecognition | Pearson<br>Correlation | 1          | .446**     |
|                    | Sig. (2-tailed)        |            | .000       |
|                    | Ν                      | 83         | 83         |
| JobEngagement      | Pearson<br>Correlation | .446**     | 1          |
|                    | Sig. (2-tailed)        | .000       |            |
|                    | Ν                      | 83         | 83         |

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 4: Bivariate Pearson Correlation



Figure 4: Scatter Plot of Rewards and Recognition ad Job Engagement

# Hypothesis 2

The second hypothesis determined that there will be a significant relationship between perceived line manager support/ interaction and employee engagement. Again with hypothesis 2 as was done was hypothesis 1 a test of normality was ran to identify if the data was normally distributed or not which would help in determining if a parametric or non-parametric test was to be ran. Due to the non-normal distribution of data, a non-parametric test

The same as with hypothesis 1 Shapiro-Wilk test was used to access normality due to the small sample size. In this case the significant value was .966 which indicates a non-significant result as seen in Table 5.

### **Tests of Normality**



a. Lilliefors Significance Correction

Table 5: Test of normality for Perceived Supervisor Support



Figure 5: Data distribution for Perceived Supervisor Support and Job Engagement

The relationship between Perceived Supervisor Support and Job Engagement was analysed through using Spearman Rank Order Correlation (rho). Prior to running this a test of normality was performed. There was a medium positive correlation between the two variables r = .421, n = 83, p < .000. Therefore, the alternative hypothesis is accepted.

#### Correlations

|                   |                                |                            | PerceivedSu<br>pervisorSupp<br>ort | JobEngagem<br>ent |
|-------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Spearman's<br>rho | PerceivedSupervisorSup<br>port | Correlation<br>Coefficient | 1.000                              | .421**            |
|                   |                                | Sig. (2-tailed)            |                                    | .000              |
|                   |                                | N                          | 83                                 | 83                |
|                   | JobEngagement                  | Correlation<br>Coefficient | .421**                             | 1.000             |
|                   |                                | Sig. (2-tailed)            | .000                               |                   |
|                   |                                | N                          | 83                                 | 83                |

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 6: Spearman Rank Order Correlation



Simple Scatter with Fit Line of PerceivedSupervisorSupport by JobEngagement

Figure 6: Scatter plot of Perceived Supervisor Support and Job Engagement

## Conclusion

This chapter presented the results of the statistical tests that were ran to explore the hypothesis this researcher developed. The first hypothesis wanted to discover if there was a significant relationship between employee progression and employee engagement. The results that are presented in the above findings shows that there is a medium significance between both variables, indicating there is a positive relationship between employee progression and employee engagement.

The second hypothesis determined there would be a significant relationship between line manager support/interaction and employee engagement. Similar to the first hypothesis, the results showed that these two variables had a significant correlation between both. Both of these hypotheses will be explored further below in the chapter entitled Discussion.

### 6. Discussion

In the following chapter the researcher will discuss the results of their findings and compare it to the academic literature outlined in Chapter 3. The analysis of the data reveals that both employee progression and line manager support/interaction has a positive impact on employee engagement. The existing literature supports these results in which will be discussed below.

In this chapter the author will discuss the two hypotheses individually beginning with Hypothesis 1, followed by Hypothesis 2. The results of the tests that were ran will be highlighted below and the relevant literature already existing in the literature review will be discussed.

## **Hypothesis 1**

The first hypothesis sought to determine if there was a significant relationship between employee progression and employee engagement. The author when developing their hypotheses evidently seen from the current literature that development has an impact on employee engagement, from this the author determined that in analysing their data they would discover this significant relationship. As can be seen from the above chapter the author ran the statistical test Bivariate Pearson Correlation as this particular test determines if there is a significant relationship or not between two variables (Pallant, 2016). Prior to running this statistical test on SPSS the author tested the reliability of the scales that were relevant, the results showed a strong reliability for both scales in which they scored over .80. After this the author wanted to determine if the data was normally distributed, a test for normality was conducted and the results showed in this case the results were normally distributed scoring .933. The researcher then ran Bivariates Pearson's Correlation test in which the analysis confirmed a significant relationship between employee development and employee engagement. In line with the hypothesis the literature in Chapter 2 highlighted the positive relationship between employee development and employee engagement. As turnover within the retail sector continues to rise each year retail companies are looking at how they can resolve this occurring problem. From the results of the data it is evidently clear investing in employees is the way to create a more engaged workforce and improve retention rates. This has been shown in previous research in companies who have invested in their employee's development. In Honeywell when employee development investments were inputted in the company employee commitment increased (Harrold, 2000). In a similar case Wal-Mart became aware of the importance to keep their employees engaged and made the change to develop current employees and promote them to managerial positions, over 60% of their employees began as associates (Peterson, 2005). Money has become less of a benefit for employees, whereas development opportunities has become their main priority (Jacobs et al. 2014), this is perhaps with development opportunities employees are gaining a substantial amount of knowledge, with this knowledge then they can climb the employment ladder.

If retailers want to stay on top of the market they must have motivated and committed employees, this can be achieved through development programmes. It is important for organisations that are currently facing difficulty retaining their employees to look to these organisations for inspiration on how to engage their employees. These results are very significant for the current problem in the retail sector.

## **Hypothesis 2**

The second hypothesis developed by the author believed there would be a significant relationship between perceived line manager support/interaction and employee engagement.

Before running the main statistical test was ran to determine if the hypothesis was significant or not, the author tested the reliability and validity of the scales that were being used in this test so see if they were reliable, the results showed both scales scored over .80 which proved valid and reliable results. Similar to hypothesis 1 the researcher wanted before running their test to see if the data was normally distributed. In hypothesis 1 the data was normally distributed so a parametric test was ran, in this case the data was not normally distributed as the value was .966 so a non parametric test was ran. The relationship between Perceived Supervisor Support and Job Engagement was tested through Spearman Rank Order Correlation which indicated a medium significant relationship.

The academic literature provided in Chapter 3 supports the results gathered by the author from the Spearman Rank Order Correlation test. According to the literature line managers can easily engage and disengage their employees (MacLeod, 2008). It is through building relationships with employees that management can contribute to the engagement of their employees. Researchers Chalofsky (2003) and Rai et al. (2017) discovered employees who have a good relationship with their line manager are more engaged with their work and organisation. In this test it has shown by simply communicating more and showing an interest in employees it can potentially solve a damaging problem that is occurring in an organisation. Through something as little as providing support to employees it can have a huge impact on the overall atmosphere within the organisation which can increase commitment and in the long term retention levels. Through implementing Khan's (1990) three psychological conditions; meaningfulness, safety and availability mentioned in the literature it can contribute to employee engagement, this is something that can be undertaken by all line managers.

Both results from the findings gathered and the literature review proved that a line manager can have an impact on employee engagement. In some cases where capital is not an option to increase engagement this can be an excellent option for line managers within organisations to review to see how engaged their employees are with them. From both results it has shown that a simple change in attitude from management can have an outstanding impact on the whole organisation.

## Conclusion

The purpose of this chapter was to link the results from the data collected and the academic literature in chapter 3. From the above discussion it is clear to see that both hypotheses showed a significant relationship with job engagement. As the literature review revealed there is no definitive term to define engagement that has been agreed. As a result, this makes it hard to measure engagement as each individual has their own version of the term. Yet, the results obtained showed that those individuals that participated in the survey possibly have the same understanding of the term as the results gathered showed high engagement when development opportunities and line manager support/interaction is involved.

From the survey results and the academic literature, when development is offered it has shown an increase in engagement. When employees are engaged, it can not only have an affect on the employee themselves, but can bring a positive energy to the organisation. Employees who are more satisfied in their role and committed to their organisation are more likely to remain there. Development can not only help the employee but the organisation in the long term.

Line manager support/interaction also showed it had a significant impact on employee engagement which was supported by academic literature. Unlike offering development which would cost an organisation a substantial amount of investment, providing support to employees cost management nothing. Managers who are invested in their employees weep the rewards that come with it, like the previous hypothesis it can increase job satisfaction and commitment and in the long term will increase retention levels.

Both hypotheses have shown if these actions were taken towards employees in the retail sector then it could potentially aid in resolving the issue of high turnover.

#### Recommendations

This research studied the relationship between employee development and line manager support/interaction and its effect on engagement among employees currently working in the retail sector in Ireland. The following recommendations the researcher will make are in relation to increasing employee engagement through development and line manager support.

When an employee becomes disengaged with their work it can have detrimental consequences on an organisation. Employees can become disengaged with both their work and organisation for a number of reasons but two of these reasons this author focused on was development opportunities and line manager support/interaction. As discussed in the above literature organisations have become aware of the importance of engaging and retaining their employees as employees are no longer loyal to one organisation. As the Irish retail industry has one of the largest turnover sectors it is clear there is something is causing this problem. From the findings in this study it was clear to see that both development opportunities and line manager support/interaction has an impact on employee engagement, as a result of this it is clear that by introducing both of these benefits it can impact on engagement and retention levels.

Development opportunities have become such an important factor for all organisations in all sectors. Organisations providing development opportunities can enhance employee commitment, job satisfaction, engagement and retention levels. The retail sector itself has a bad stigma associated with it in relation to career progression, people see no advancements in this role. While in some circumstances this may be true, but for the retail industry it is something than be resolved through developing employees who will be able to step into higher positions once trained. Development opportunities fail to exist in smaller retail stores as they may argue there is no career progression for every employee due to them being a small store. A recommendation that can be made in this situation is to look to the organisation itself and

not the individual stores to offer their employees development opportunities. Employees working in smaller retail stores should have the option to attend development programmes that could be provided for them on a monthly basis. Even if it is a small store managers and line managers can use their knowledge and expertise in helping individuals develop within their roles if they have shown an interest, or they can slowly provide them with more responsibility within their role as this can all help towards job satisfaction, commitment to the role and therefore, achieving better engagement and retention levels.

In larger retail stores development modules should be introduced to employees who want to partake in them. These modules should include development opportunities such as training an employee to progress in the company from associate to team leader. Even if these stores have no positions available, they could have the option to relocate or just wait for a position to come available. By introducing these development opportunities, it can assist in creating a more engaged workforce, employees will see they are trusted and encouraged to grow within the company and this can help boost their confidence and in turn retain employees.

Line managers have a crucial role to play in engaging employees. Line managers are the main point of contact for employees, therefore creating an effective communication strategy between employees and their line managers can potentially help problems that may arise. Line managers can be accounted for a large number of reasons as to why employees are disengaged, some of these reasons can include lack of respect and communication to their employees, not showing trust in employees and does not encourage or provide employees with feedback. If line managers were to invest more time interacting with employees, these situations could be resolved. Some recommendations that may help with employee engagement through line manager support/interaction is that if line managers set clear expectations and continuously communicate with their employees. Another recommendation that would be very important for line managers to keep employees engaged is to provide them with regular feedback, recognition and rewards. This will make employees feel like their line managers notice the work they do and also provide them with recognition and reward when they do something good, for example having an employee of the month scheme can keep morale up and create friendly competition among employees for the award which can boost engagement levels.

From the recommendations outlined above some costs will be involved. In order for line managers to increase engagement levels among employees it would not cost organisations anything as communication would not be a cost to an organisation. Creating better relationships between both employee and line manager the problem of engagement may be resolved. However, in order to introduce employee development modules a substantial amount of capital investments would be required, costs the researcher could not even estimate. Yet, these costs can be justified as it would enhance employee engagement, loyalty and commitment to an organisation.

## **Future Research**

For future research a more in depth analysis of a larger sample should be taken. Unfortunately, the researcher had limited time to gather their data so it was not possible in this case. If a larger sample study was targeted, it could gather more accurate results and more knowledge can be gained on the area. At present there is a very scarce amount of literature that exists on the retail sector in Ireland in general. Further research on employee development could be beneficial for the Irish retail sector.

## 7. Conclusion

In this study the researcher attempted to explore and understand the impact development and line manager support/interaction can have on an employee engagement levels and offer some recommendations that both organisations and line managers can do to help boost employee engagement. The literature review revealed that development and line managers have an impact on employee engagement, but it also can enhance job satisfaction, organisational commitment and retention. Employee engagement has become such an important topic for both employers and employees, however the literature review showed the lack of grounded evidence in which described what employee engagement actually is. Regardless of this the results collected, the survey showed development and line manager support/interaction in these particular retail stores would have an impact on engagement. Whether this result would remain the same for other retail stores if surveyed the author is unsure but it could be something that can be researched in the future.

To conclude, from this research is it crucial organisations and management focus on engaging employees in their work as it can have excellent benefits in the long term for the employee and employer relationship.

# 8. References

Agarwala, T., Arizkuren-Eleta, A., Castillo, E.D., Muniz-Ferrer, A. and Gartzia, L. (2014) 'Influence of managerial support on work-life conflict and organizational commitment: an international comparison for India, Peru and Spain', *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25(10), pp. 1460-1483.

Ahmad, A., Bibi, P. and Majid, A.H. (2017) 'The impact of training and development and transformational leadership over organizational commitment among academic staff in public tertiary institutions: The buffering role of coworker support', *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 11 (1), pp. 417-432.

Aktouf, O. (1992) 'Management and theories of organizations in the 1990s: Toward a critical radical humanism', Academy of Management Review, 17, pp. 407–431. and contemporary viewpoints', Human Resource Management Review, 16(2), pp. 125-138.

Antonacopoulou, E.P. and FitzGerald, L. (1996) 'Reframing competency in management development: a critique', Human Resource Management Journal, 61(1), pp. 27-48.

Arakawa, D. and Greenberg, M. (2006) 'Optimistic managers and their influence on productivity and employee engagement in a technology organisation', University of Pennsylvania - Scholarly Commons.

Aruna, M. and Anitha, J. (2015) 'Employee Retention Enablers: Generation Y Employees', Journal of Indian Management, 12(3), pp. 94-103.

Ashford, S.J. and Black, S. (1996) 'Proactivity during Organizational Entry: A Role of Desire for Control', Journal of Applied Psychology, 1, pp. 199–214.

Attridge, M. (2009) 'Measuring and Managing Employee Work Engagement: A Review of the Research and Business Literature', Journal of Workplace Behavioural Health, 24(4), pp. 383-398.

Baharin, N.L and Hanafi, N.W. (2018) 'Effects of Talent Management on Employee Retention: A Case Study of Hospitality Industry', Global Business and Management Research, 10, pp. 697-707.

Bakker, A.B. and Demerouti, E. (2009) 'The crossover of work engagement between working couples: A closer look at the role of empathy', Journal of Managerial Psychology, 24(3), pp. 220–236.

Bakker, A.B., Schaufeli, W.B., Leiter, M.P. and Taris, T.W. (2008) 'Work engagement: An emerging concept in occupational health psychology', Work and Stress, 22(3), pp. 187–200.

Baruch, Y. (2006) 'Career development in organizations and beyond: Balancing traditional

Bates, R. and Khasawneh, S. (2005) 'Organizational learning culture, learning transfer climate and perceived innovation in Jordanian organizations', International Journal of Training and Development, 9 (2), pp. 96-109.

Baumruk R. and Gorman B. (2006) 'Why managers are crucial to increasing engagement' UK: Melcrum Publishing.

Billah, M. (2009) 'Human resource management practices and employee turnover intention to leave: A Study on commercial banks in Bangladesh', AMDIB Management Review 1: 23-42

Biro, M. (2018) 'Developing Your Employees Is The Key To Retention -- Here Are 4 Smart Ways To Start' [online] Available at:

https://www.forbes.com/sites/meghanbiro/2018/07/23/developing-your-employees-is-the-key-to-retention-here-are-4-smart-ways-to-start/#69a030ca3734 [Accessed 17 July 2019].

Blau, P.M. (1967) Exchange and Power in Social Life. 2nd edn. New York: Wiley. Blessing White (2006) 'Employee Engagement Report 2006 BlessingWhite, Inc' Princeton, New Jersey. [Online] Available: www.blessingwhite.com (July 16, 2019).

Bowie, N.E. and Schneider, M. (2011) Business ethics for dummies. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Publishing.

Carmeli, A. (2005) 'Perceived external prestige, affective commitment, and citizenship behaviors', Organization Studies, 26(3): pp. 443-464.

Carson, D., Gilmore, A., Perry, C. and Gronhaug, K. (2001) Qualitative Marketing Research. London: Sage.

Chalofsky, N. (2003) 'An emerging construct for meaningful work', Human Resource Development International, 6(1), pp. 69-83.

Christian, M. S., Garza, A. S. and Slaughter, J. E. (2011) 'Work engagement: A quantitative review and test of its relation with task and contextual performance', Personnel Psychology, 64(1), pp. 89–136.

Chuanyi, T., Yongemi, L., Hyunjoo, O. and Barton, W. (2014) 'Socialization Tactics of New Retail Employees: A Pathway to Organizational Commitment', Journal of Retailing, 90(1), pp. 62-73.

Coates, T. (2017) 'Hearing the voices of Generation Y employees: a hermeneutic phenomenological study', Human Resource Development International, 20(1), pp. 37-67.

Colakoglu, U., Culha, O. and Atay, H. (2010) 'The Effects of Perceived Organisational Support on Employees' Affective Outcomes: Evidence from the Hotel Industry, Tourism and Hospitality Management, 16(2), pp. 125 - 150.

Cole, G. (2015) 'Winning the Talent War: How learning impacts on Retention', Development and Learning in Organizations: An International Journal, 29(3), pp. 21-23. Currie, G. and Procter, S. (2001) 'Exploring the relationship between HR and middle managers', Human Resource Management Journal, 11(3), pp. 53–69. development', HR: Human Resource Planning, 8(4), pp. 10–21.

Elena P. A, (2000) 'Employee development through self-development in three retail banks', Journal of Personnel Review, 29(4), pp. 491-508.

Emerson, R. M. (1981) Social exchange In M. Rosenberg and R. Turner (Eds.), Social psychology: Sociological perspective (pp. 3-24). New York: Basic Books.

Evenson, R. (2007). Award-winning customer service: 101 ways to guarantee great performance. New York, NY: Amacom (FIX)

Field, L.K. and Buitendach, J.H. (2011). 'Happiness, work engagement and organisational commitment of support staff at a tertiary education institution in South Africa', SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 37(1), pp. 68–77

Garger, E. M. (1999) 'Goodbye training, hello learning', Workforce, 78 (11), pp. 35-42.

Glazer, S., Mahoney, A.C. and Randall, Y. (2019) 'Employee Developments Role in Organizational Commitment: A Preliminary Investigation Comparing Generation X and Millennial Employees', Industrial and Commercial Training, 51(1), pp. 1-12.

Gutteridge, T. G., Leibowitz, Z. B. and Shore, J. E. (1993) 'When careers flower, organizations flourish', Training and Development Journal, 47, pp. 24-29.

Hall, D. T. and Mirvis, P H. (1996). 'The new protean career: Psychological success and the path with a heart. In D. T. Hall 6i Associates (Eds.)', The career is dead: Long live the career San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, pp. 15-45.

Harrold, D. (2000) 'Developing intellectual capital', Control Engineering, 47(9), pp. 63-70.

Harter, J.K, Schmidt, F.L and Keyes, C.L. (2002) 'Well-being in the Workplace and its Relationship to Business Outcomes: A Review of the Gallup Studies' in Corey, LM., Keyes and Haidt, J. Flourishing: The Positive Person and the Good Life. Washington D.C: American Psychological Association.

Holladay, S. J. and Carroll, C. W. (2010) The SAGE Encyclopedia of Corporate Reputation -Social Exchange Theory. [Online] Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483376493.n287 [Accessed 8 June 2019].

Horn, R. (2012) Researching and Writing Dissertations: a complete guide for business and management students. 2nd ed. London: CIPD. https://www.retailgazette.co.uk/blog/2016/10/why-does-retail-have-one-of-the-highest-employee-turnover-rates/ [Accessed 8 June 2019].

Hudson, L. and Ozanne, J. (1988) 'Alternative Ways of Seeking Knowledge in Consumer Research', Journal of Consumer Research, 14(4), pp. 508–521. Ibec (2019) 'Retail in depth' [online] Available at: https://www.retailireland.ie/Sectors/RI/RI.nsf/vPages/Retail\_in\_Ireland~retail-indepth?OpenDocument [Accessed 8 June 2019].

Iles, P., Chuai, X. and Preece, D. (2010) 'Talent Management and HRM in Multinational Companies in Beijing: Definitions, Differences and Drivers', Journal of World Business, 45(2), pp. 179-189.

Iqbal, J., Shabbir, M.S., Zammer, H., Khan, I.A. and Sandhu, M.A. (2017) 'Antecedents and Consequences of Employee Engagement: Evidence from Corporate Sector of Pakistan', University of Central Punjab, 11(1), pp. 78-86.

Iqbal, J., Shabbir, M.S., Zammer, H., Khan, I.A. and Sandhu, M.A. (2017) 'Antecedents and Consequences of Employee Engagement: Evidence From Corporate Sector of Pakistan', University of Central Punjab, 11(1), pp. 78-86.

Jacobs, R.L. and Washington, C. (2003) 'Employee Development and Organizational Performance: A Review of Literature and Directions for Future Research', Human Resource Development International, 6(3), pp. 343-354.

Jacobs, S., Renard, M. and Snelgar, R.J (2014) 'Intrinsic rewards and work engagement in the South African retail industry', South African Journal of Industrial Psychology, 40(2), pp. 1-13.

Jacobs, S., Renard, M. and Snelgar, R.J. (2014) 'Intrinsic rewards and work engagement in the South African retail industry', South African Journal of Industrial, 40(2), pp. 1-13. Jashan, E. (2016) 'Why does retail have such a high employee turnover rate?', Retail Gazette. [online] Available at:

Jehanzeb, K. and Bashir, N.A. (2013) 'Training and Development Program and its Benefits to Employee and Organization: A Conceptual Study' European Journal of Business and Management, 5(2), pp. 243-252.

Job Satisfaction: A Path-Goal Approach', Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences, 7(1), pp. 209-222.

Judge, T.A., Bono, J.E., Thoresen, C.J and Patton, G.K. (2001) 'The Job Satisfaction-Job Performance Relationship', Psychological Bulletin, 127(3), pp. 376-407.

Kahn WA. (1990) 'Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work', Academy of Management Journal, 33(4), pp. 692–724.

Kaur, S. (2016) 'Antecedents and Consequences of EmployeeEngagement: A Literature Review', IUP Journal of Organizational Behaviour, 16(3), pp. 7-32.

Korsgaard, M.A., Schweiger, D.M. and Sapienza, H. J. (1995) 'Building Commitment, Attachment and Trust in Strategic Decision-making Teams: The Role of Procedural Justice,' Academy of Management Journal, 38, pp. 60–84.

Lau, C. M. and Ngo, H. Y. (2004) 'The HR system organizational culture and product innovation', International Business Review, 13,pp. 685–703.

Lee, C.H. and Bruvold, N.T. (2003) 'Creating value for employees: Investment in employee development', International Journal of Human Resource Development, 14, pp. 981-1000

Locke, E.A. (1969) 'What is job satisfaction?', Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 4(4), pp. 309–336.

London, M. (1989) Managing the training enterprise. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Luca, M.R (2016) 'Organisational socialization in the context of career path changes', Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov: Series VII: Social Sciences, 9(58), pp. 9-16.

Lucas, G. H., Jr., Babakus, E. and Ingram, T. N. (1990) 'An empirical test of the job satisfaction-turnover relationship: Assessing the role of job performance for retail managers', Journal of the Academy of Management Science, 18(3), pp. 199–208.

Macey W.H. and Schneider B. (2008) 'The meaning of employee engagement', Industrial and Organisational Psychology, 1,pp. 3–30.

MacLeod, D. and Brady, C. (2008) The Extra Mile: How to Engage Your People to Win, Great Britain, Prentice Hall.

MacLeod, D., and Clarke, N. (2009) Engaging for success: enhancing performance through employee engagement. London: Department for Business Innovation and Skills.

Malik, S.H. (2013) 'Relationship between Leader Behaviors and Employees'

Markos, S. and Sridevi, M.S. (2010) 'Employee Engagement: The Key to Improving Performance' International Journal of Business and Management, 5(12), pp. 89-96.

Maurer, T.J. (2001) 'Career-relevant learning and development, worker age, and beliefs about self-efficacy for development', Journal of Management, 27(2), pp. 12-40.

May, D. R. (2003) 'Fostering the human spirit at work: Toward an understanding of the influences on employees' experienced meaningfulness at work', Unpublished manuscript.

Mearns, K., Hope, L., Ford, M. T. and Tetrick, L. E. (2010) 'Investment in workforce health: Exploring the implications for workforce safety climate and commitment', Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42(5), pp. 1445-1454.

Mehrabi, J., Jadidi, M., Haery, F.A. and Alemzadeh, M. (2013) 'The Relationship between Organizational Commitment and Organizational Learning (Boroojerd Telecommunication Company as Case Study)' International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 3 (1), pp. 130-139.

Melymuka, K. (2000) 'Keeping your star performers', Computerworld, 34 (14), pp. 44. Meyer, J.P., Stanley, D.J., Herscovitch, L. and Topolnytsky, L. (2002) 'Affective continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: a meta-analysis of antecedents, correlates, and consequences', Journal of Vocational Behavior, 61(1), pp. 20-52.

Mowday, R.T., Richard M. S. and Lyman W. P. (1979) 'The Measurement of Organizational Commitment', Journal of Vocational Behavior, 14, pp. 222–47.

Nair, M.S., Salleh, R. and Nair, S.K. (2014) 'Employee Turnover in the Malaysian Retail Industry', Global Business and Management Research, 64(4), pp. 283-289.

Newman, A., Thanacoody, R. and Hui, W. (2011) 'The effects of perceived organizational support, perceived supervisor support and intra- organizational network resources on turnover intentions: a study of Chinese employees in multinational enterprises', Personnel Review, 41(1), pp. 56-72.

O'Neal, S, and Gebauer, J. (2006) 'Talent Management in the 21st Century: Attracting, Retaining and Engaging Employees of Choice', World at Work Journal, 15(1), pp. 6-17.

Pallant, J. (2016) SPSS SURVIVAL GUIDE, 6th Edn. UK: Open Press University.

Paré, G. and Tremblay, M. (2007) 'The influence of high-involvement human resources practices, procedural justice, organizational commitment, and citizenship behaviors on information technology professionals' turnover intentions', Group and Organization Management, 32 (3), pp. 326-357

Peterson, C.H. (2005) 'Employee Retention: The Secrets Behind Wal-Mart's Successful Hiring Policies', Human Resource Management, 44(1), pp. 85-88.

Quinlan, C. (2011) Business Research Methods. Hampshire: Cengage Learning. Rai, A., Ghosh, P., Chauhan, R. and Mehta, N.K. (2017) 'Influence of job characteristics on engagement: does support at work act as moderator?', International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 37 (½), pp. 86-105.

Randall, D.M. (1990) 'The consequences of organizational commitment: Methodological investigation', Journal of Organizational Behaviour, 11(5), pp. 361-378.

Rathi, N. and Lee, K. (2017) 'Understanding the role of supervisor support in retaining employees and enhancing their satisfaction with life', Personnel Review, 46(8), pp. 1605-1619.

Reda, S. (2008) 'Retailers Take Different Approaches to Keeping Associates in the Fold' Stores,.. October 25. (FIX)

Rhoades, L. and Eisenberger, R. (2002) 'Perceived organizational support: a review of the literature', Journal of Applied Psychology, 87(4), pp. 698-714.

Rich, B. L., Lepine, J. A. and Crawford, E. R. (2010) 'Job engagement: Antecedents and effects on job performance. Academy of Management Journal', 53(3), pp. 617–635.

Robinson, D., Perryman, S. and Hayday, S. (2004) The drivers of employee engagement. Brighton: the Institute for Employment Studies [Online] Available at: http://www.employment-studies.co.uk/system/files/resources/files/408.pdf [Accessed 13th June 2019]

Rose, R. C., Kumar, N. and Pak, O. G. (2011) 'The effect of organizational learning on organizational commitment, job satisfaction and work performance', Journal of Applied Business Research (JABR), 25(6), pp. 55-66.

Rosenwald, M. (2000) 'Working class: More companies are creating corporate universities to help employees sharpen skills and learn new ones' Boston Globe, H1.

Saks, A. M. (2006) 'Antecedents and consequences of employee engagement', Journal of Managerial Psychology, 21(7), pp. 600-619.

Salarian, M., Bahrampour, K. and Habibi, S. (2015) 'Organizational commitment and its relationship with organizational learning (case study: general directorate of ports and maritime of Mazandaran province)', International Journal of Life Science, 5(6), pp. 67-73. Saunders, M., Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A. (2009) Research methods for business students. 5th edn. Essex: Pearson Education Limited.

Sawang, S. (2010) 'Moderation or mediation? An examination of the role of perceived managerial support has on job satisfaction and psychological strain', Current Psychology, 29(3), pp. 247-256.

Schaufeli, W.B. and Bakker, A.B. (2004) 'Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: a multi-sample study. Journal of Organizational Behavior', 25, pp. 293-315.

Schaufeli, W.B. and Bakker, A.B. (2004) 'Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: a multi-sample study', Journal of Organizational Behavior, 25, pp. 293-315.

Schneier, C. E., MacCoy, D. and Burchman, S. (1988) 'Unlocking employee potential: Developing skills', Management Solutions, pp. 9-15.

Scotland, J. (2012) 'Exploring the Philosophical Underpinnings of Research: Relating Ontology and Epistemology to the Methodology and Methods of the Scientific, Interpretive and Critical Research Paradigms', English Language Teaching, 9(1), pp 9-16.

Shelton, S. (2001) 'The effects of employee development programs on job satisfaction and employee retention', International journal of business and public management, 3(2), pp. 10-60.

Shim, S., Lusch, R. and O'Brien, M. (2002) 'A hierarchical model of values, leadership, job satisfaction and commitment: Human resources management implications for the retail industry', Journal of Marketing Channels, 10(1), pp. 65–87.

Silbert, L. (2005) 'The Effect of Tangible Rewards on Perceived Organizational Support' [online] Available at: https://www.collectionscanada.gc.ca/obj/s4/f2/dsk3/OWTU/TC-OWTU-507.pdf [Accessed 19 June 2019].

Silbert, L.2005. The Effect of Tangible Rewards on Perceived Organizational Support Spector, P.E. (1997) Job Satisfaction: Application, Assessment, Causes, and Consequences. US: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Stoker, J. I. (2006) 'Leading middle management: Consequences of organizational changes for tasks and behaviors of middle managers', Journal of General Management, 32(1), pp. 31–42

Sung, S.Y. and Choi, J.N. (2013) 'Do organizations spend wisely on employees? Effects of training and development investments on learning and innovation in organizations' Journal of Organizational Behaviour', 35(3), pp. 393-412.

Torraco, R. J. and Swanson, R. A. (1995) 'The strategic roles of human resource

Twenge, J.M. (2010) 'A Review of the Empirical on Generational Differences in Work Attitudes', Journal of Business and Psychology, 25(2), pp. 201-210.

Wagner, S. (2000) 'Retention: Finders, keepers', Training and Development, 54 (8), pp. 64.

Wait, M. and Frazer, M. (2018) 'Investigating retention and workplace implementation of board game learning in employee development', Acta Commercii, 18(1), pp. 1-7.

Walumbwa, F.O., J. J. Lawler, B. J. Avolio, W. Peng, and S. Kan. 2005. Transformational leadership and work-related attitudes: The moderating effects of collective and self-efficacy across cultures. Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies 11 (3): 2–16.

Walumbwa, F.O., J. J. Lawler, B. J. Avolio, W. Peng, and S. Kan. 2005. Transformational leadership and work-related attitudes: The moderating effects of collective and self-efficacy across cultures. Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies 11 (3): 2–16.

Weng, Q., McElroy, J.C., Morrow, P.C. and Liu, R. (2010) 'The relationship between career growth and organizational commitment', Journal of Vocational Behavior, 77(3), pp. 391-400.

Whitcomb, J. (2012) L&D Best Practices: Employee Retention [online] Available at: https://trainingmag.com/content/ld-best-practices-novdec-2012/ [Accessed 20 May 2019].

Whitcomb, J. (2012) L&D Best Practices: Employee Retention [online] Available at: https://trainingmag.com/content/ld-best-practices-novdec-2012/ [Accessed 19 June 2019].

Whitener, E.M. (2001) 'Do 'high commitment' human resource practices affect employee commitment? A cross-level analysis using hierarchical linear modeling', Journal of Management, 27(5), pp. 515-535.

Zimenoff, M. (2015) 'CHANGE YOUR FOCUS, CHANGE YOUR TEAM: An Integrated, Strengths-Based Approach to Corporate Career Development', Career Planning & Adult Development Journal, 31(3), pp. 52-58.

### 9. Reflection (CIPD Requirement)

This year I have learnt more than I ever have in all my years in education. Having completed a Bachelor of Arts degree in History and Sociology and Politics in National University of Ireland Galway (NUIG) I decided to take a chance and apply for a Master of Arts degree in Human Resource Management and thankfully was accepted by the National College of Ireland (NCI) to study. I will be forever grateful to the college in taking a chance in me especially as I had no previous education in a business background. Although I was very nervous at the start of the year to begin this course I am glad to have pleasantly surprised myself and thoroughly enjoyed the course in learning all things HR that will definitely be of use to me when beginning a career in HR.

I was very much used to college life as I knew how to write academic essays, review literature, reference and I was aware of the pressure of exams as I had just finished my level 8 degree and went straight into the Masters. However, I had no idea what would be involved in writing a dissertation as I never had to do one before. Completing this dissertation has definitely been the most challenging thing I have done academic wise but I am proud of the results I have achieved. I began the dissertation after my exams had been completed on May 15th 2019.

Knowing a dissertation was imminent I had been thinking of different topics I could possibly research, however as I had worked many years part-time in the retail industry I knew I wanted to use it to my advantage. My proposal submitted in January 2019 was thankfully passed however the title had to be readjusted slightly, the proposal was entitled " Does opportunities for employee development have an affect on employee engagement and employee retention? An investigation into the employees of the retail sector in Ireland" it was then changed to "The title of this research is: The relationship between employee

66

development and employee engagement. An investigation into employees in the retail sector in Ireland."

For me the most difficult part of the dissertation was the starting point. The majority of people recommend to begin with the literature review but I felt I needed to set out a clear path before I began. Therefore, I developed a theoretical framework and tested the variables to see if they were connected and I then established my objectives which are as follows. My main objective of the research was to explore whether employee development and line manager support affects employee engagement. My sub-objectives was: The researcher is further going to explore the effect employee development and line manager support/interaction has on employees commitment, intention to stay within an organisation and job satisfaction

Completing the literature review took the longest amount of time for me and was the one section I continuously went back too as I was unsure I had everything covered that was needed. At times it was frustrating when reading large amounts of literature that then would not be material that was suited to my topic. However, I was delighted each time when I did find literature that was appropriate and I learnt a substantial amount more on my topic than I had known when starting the dissertation.

Finding my survey developed by Professor Alan Saks so early in my research reduced a lot of stress for me as the survey was perfect for what I wanted to measure. The use of a survey in my research proved to be the fastest and effective way I could gather data. I did not have to chase participants for interviews, instead all the participants had to do was click into a link which brought them to the survey on SurveyMonkey which made it easy for people to partake in the study. I enjoyed researching the methodology section and discovering the many different approaches that can be taken when conducting a study. The data analysis section

67

allowed me to learn all about SPSS and how to run my data. However, determining what tests to run was extremely difficult for me to determine and I spent a long time in this section.

I feel very proud of myself for completing this dissertation, definitely my biggest achievement to date academic wise. It was very challenging and at times but I feel like it has all been worth it and it is nice to say in life that you have completed a dissertation. I would highly recommend everyone in education to write one as it gives you self-achievement.

# **10. Appendices**

# **Appendix 1 - Survey Consent/Information Form**

My name is Ciara Connaughton and I am Human Resource Management masters student in the National College of Ireland (NCI). As part of my dissertation project, I am inviting you to participate in this study if you are currently working in the retail sector.

Your participation in this survey is voluntary. You have the right to refuse to take part in the survey, exit or decline to answer a certain question you may not feel comfortable answering.

The survey asks you to answer multiple choice questions. It should take approximately 8-10 minutes to complete.

The information that will be gathered from this survey will remain anonymous. No one will be able to identify you or your answers.

The results of this survey will be used for academic purposes only.

If you have any further questions about my research, please contact me at ciaraconnaughton3@gmail.com.

# **Appendix 2 - Participant Consent**

Clicking on the "agree" button below you have:

- Voluntarily consented to being a participant in this survey.
- Read the relevant information provided above by the researcher.
- Are 18 years of age or above.

# **Appendix 3 - Permission to use Survey**

| • | ciara connaughton <ciaraconnaughton3@gmail.com><br/>to saks ▼<br/>Dear Professor Saks,</ciaraconnaughton3@gmail.com>   | Thu, 13 Jun, 18:55 | ☆ | • | 0<br>0 |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--------------------|---|---|--------|--|--|--|--|
|   | My name is Ciara Connaughton and I am a student at the National College of Ireland (NCI). I am currently con<br>Master's degree in Human Resource Management and I am undertaking a research dissertation on the relatio<br>between employee development and employee engagement in the retail sector. |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   | I am emailing you to seek your permission to use your survey please. I would very much   | appreciate it.     |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   | Looking forward to hearing from you.   |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   | Kind Regards,  |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   | (***)  |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   | Alan Saks <saks@utsc.utoronto.ca><br/>to me =</saks@utsc.utoronto.ca>  | Thu, 13 Jun, 19:22 | ☆ | • | •<br>• |  |  |  |  |
|   | Yes you can use my engagement scale, items are in the appendix of my paper.  |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   | <mark>Alan</mark> Saks, PhD<br>Professor, HRM<br>University of Toronto   |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |                    |   |   |        |  |  |  |  |

# **Appendix 4 - Survey Contents**

### 1. Job Engagement

- 1. I really "throw" myself into my job.
- 2. Sometimes I am so into my job that I lose track of time.
- 3. This job is all consuming, I am totally into it.
- 4. My mind often wanders and I think of other things when doing my job (reverse

coded).

5. I am highly engaged in this job.

## 2. Organisation Engagement

- 1. Being a member of this organisation is very captivating.
- 2. One of the most exciting things for me is getting involved with things happening in

this

organisation.

3. I am really not into the "goings-on" in this organisation (reverse coded).

4. Being a member of this organisation makes me come "alive."

5. Being a member of this organisation is exhilarating for me.

6. I am highly engaged in this organisation.

### 3. Job Characteristics

1. How much autonomy is there in your job? That is, to what extent does your job permit you to decide on your own how to go about doing the work?

2. To what extent does your job involve doing a "whole" and identifiable piece of work? That is, is the job a complete piece of work that has an obvious beginning and end? Or is it only a small part of the overall piece of work, which is finished by other people or by automatic machines?

3. How much variety is there in your job? That is, to what extent does the job require you to do many different things at work, using a variety of your skills and talents?

4. In general, how significant or important is your job? That is, are the results of your work likely to significantly affect the lives or well-being of other people?

5. To what extent do managers or co-workers let you know how well you are doing on your job?

6. To what extent does doing the job itself provide you with information about your work performance? That is, does the actual work itself provide clues about how well you are doing aside from any "feedback" co-workers or supervisors may provide?

### 4. Rewards and Recognition

Please indicate the extent to which you receive the following outcomes for performing your job well:

- 1. A pay raise.
- 2. Job security.
- 3. A promotion.
- 4. More freedom and opportunities.
- 5. Respect from the people you work with.
- 6. Praise from your supervisor.
- 7. Training and development opportunities.
- 8. More challenging work assignments.
- 9. Some form of public recognition (e.g. employee of the month).

10. A reward or token of appreciation (e.g. lunch).

## 5. Distributive Justice

- 1. Do the outcomes you receive reflect the effort you have put into your work?
- 2. Are the outcomes you receive appropriate for the work you have completed?
- 3. Do your outcomes reflect what you have contributed to the organisation?
- 4. Are your outcomes justified given your performance?

## 6. Procedural Justice

- 1. Have you been able to express your views and feelings during those procedures?
- 2. Have you had influence over the outcomes arrived at by those procedures?
- 3. Have those procedures been applied consistently?
- 4. Have those procedures been free of bias?
- 5. Have those procedures been based on accurate information?
- 6. Have you been able to appeal the outcomes arrived at by those procedures?
- 7. Have those procedures upheld ethical and moral standards?

## 7. Perceived Organisational Support

- 1. My organisation really cares about my well-being.
- 2. My organisation strongly considers my goals and values.
- 3. My organisation shows little concern for me (reverse coded).
- 4. My organisation cares about my opinions.
- 5. My organisation is willing to help me if I need a special favour.
- 6. Help is available from my organisation when I have a problem.
- 7. My organisation would forgive an honest mistake on my part.

8. If given the opportunity, my organisation would take advantage of me (reverse coded).

## 8. Perceived Supervisor Support

- 1. My supervisor cares about my opinions.
- 2. My work supervisor really cares about my well-being.
- 3. My supervisor strongly considers my goals and values.
- 4. My supervisor shows very little concern form me (reverse coded).

## 9. Job Satisfaction

- 1. All in all, I am satisfied with my job.
- 2. In general, I do not like my job (reverse coded).

105

3. In general, I like working here.

# 10. Organisational Commitment

1. I would be happy to work at my organisation until I retire.

- 2. Working at my organisation has a great deal of personal meaning to me.
- 3. I really feel that problems faced by my organisation are also my problems.
- 4. I feel personally attached to my work organisation.
- 5. I am proud to tell others I work at my organisation.
- 6. I feel a strong sense of belonging to my organisation.

# 11. Intent to Quit

- 1. I frequently think of quitting my job.
- 2. I am planning to search for a new job during the next 12 months.

3. If I have my own way, I will be working for this organisation one year from now (reverse coded).

# 12. Organisational Citizenship Behaviour (Individual)

- 1. How often do you?
- 2. Willingly give your time to help others who have work-related problems.
- 3. Adjust your work schedule to accommodate other employees' requests for time off.
- 4. Give up time to help others who have work or non-work problems.
- 5. Assist others with their duties.

# 12. Organisational Citizenship Behaviour (Organisational)

How often do you?

- 1. Attend functions that are not required but that help the organisational image.
- 2. Offer ideas to improve the functioning of the organisation.
- 3. Take action to protect the organisation from potential problems.
- 4. Defend the organisation when other employees criticize it.

# **Additional Demographic Questions**

- 1. Please specify your gender?
- 2. Please specify your age?
- 3. How long have you worked in retail?
- 4. How long have you been with your current employer?

5. What is your current employment status?



# **Appendix 5 - Demographics**

Table 7: Gender



Table 8: Age



Table 9: Length in Retail



Table 10: Length in the company



Full-time Part-time Flexible

Table 11: Contract